The Medieval Borough of Bunratty
JOHN BRADLEY*

The Anglo-Norman colonization of South Clare resulted in the foundation of

only one borough: Bunratty. This remained a substantial settlement until 1318

when desertion commenced in the aftermath of the Battle of Dysert O’Dea.

The known structures within the medieval borough are described and an outline
of the settlement’s extent is suggested.
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The story of Anglo-Norman penetration of Thomond has already been chartered by
Westropp, Orpen and Simms' and it will suffice here to summarise the main course of
events as a prelude to examining the borough of Bunratty. By the close of the twelfth century
the town of Limerick had been occupied by the Anglo-Normans and they had commenced
the colonization of Limerick county. Even before 1199, it seems, Tradery, the district around
Bunratty, was granted out to Arnold Keting and the “‘three cantreds of Corcovaskin’’ were
retained in the hands of the crown during the early years of the thirteenth century.’
Despite such grants, however, and others made in the 1210s, the Anglo-Normans made
little attempt to settle Thomond and seem to have been largely content to allow the O’Briens
to hold their lands in return for the payment of rent and services. In 1248, however, Tradery
was granted to Robert de Muscegros and he proceeded to build castles at Bunratty and
Clarecastle.’ By 1257 the O’Briens had begun to feel the pinch and they commenced o
attack the settlers.* By and large, the O’Briens seem 1o have succeeded in containing the
Anglo-Norman settlement until the arrival in the county of Thomas de Clare, a younger
brother of the Earl of Gloucester. Exploiting the maxim of ‘‘divide and congquer’* he allied
himself with one faction of the O’Briens and helped them to defeat the other. In the process
he was able to colonize southeast Clare from Iimerick to the Fergus and to establish sizeable
settlements and castles at Quin and Bunratty.® The success of de Clare’s settlement and
his overlordship of Thomond was such that it lasted until the defeat of his son Richard
at the battle of Dysert O’Dea in 1318. In the aftermath of the battle the colonized areas
were overrun and Anglo-Norman settlement in Clare seems 1o have fizzled out by the middle

of the fourteenth century.”
The Anglo-Norman era in Clare, then, lasted less than a century, but in the course of
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that time they introduced the economic system which they had established elsewher, in
Ireland, a system based on the manor, village and town. In Clare, however, the Anglo.
Normans did not establish any centres which, properly speaking, could be called towng
Nonetheless at Bunratty a borough was established which, had circumstances been mqy,
favourable, might have developed into a town.” The main purpose of the present note ig
to outline the size of this borough and place its main features on record, in the hope tha
it may heighten awareness of the site’s archaeological potential. In recent vears the
construction of roadways through the medieval borough site has undoubtedly destroyeg
archacological deposits and it is to be hoped that this situation will not be allowed to recy,

in the future.

Location

Situated at Bun Rdite, ‘‘the mouth of the Raite’ [now the Owenogarney River] the site
had considerable strategic importance throughout the Middle Ages because it controlled
the passage of ships on the Shannon. The district around Bunratty was known as
“Tradraighe’ or “Traderry” and it is first mentioned in the twelfth century Cogadh Gaedhe]
re Gallaibh which states that ¢.960 the Vikings of North Munster built a fort at
‘Tratraighe’.® This may well have been located at the site of the future borough but in
the absence of excavation it is impossible to be certain.

Historical Background

The first evidence of Anglo-Norman settlement occurs just after 1248 when Tradery was
granted to Robert de Muscegros.” A castle was under construction in 1251'° and in 1253
he was granted the right to have a vill, with a weekly market and vearly fair, in his land
of ““Bunraty’’." In 1277 the settlement passed to Thomas de Clare and, according to the
fourteenth century Caithréim Thoirdhealbhaigh, he filled it:

“‘with common English so many as by bribes and purchase, he was able to retain®’.!2

By de Clare’s time Bunratty had acquired borough status and it had become the most
important Anglo-Norman settlement in Clare. No charter survives but on de Clare’s death
in 1287 an extent of the manor of Bunratty was drawn up which noted that the burgesses
of the vill held 226 burgages, paying 131. 6s. annual rent.” The extent also noted a
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hundred court, a shambles worth 3s. yearly, fairs worth half a mark yearly, a watermill,
a fish-pond, and a rabbit warren.

Harbour

One of the most important factors in the siting of the borough was the presence of a

harbour adjacent to the castle, on the Owenogarney river. The Caithréim Thoirdhealbhaigh
contains a poetic reference to ‘‘Bunratty of the wide roads, oared galleys and safe
harbour’’,'* and in describing Toirdhealbhach O Briain’s siege of the castle, it notes that

he erected a plank bridge (claidroichead) ‘*which spanned its sea-channel to the opposite
shore’’, in order to prevent ships from gaining access to the castle.'
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Borough Defences

The borough was sited on a low hillock which Westropp'® described as being
surrounded by marshes on the south, west and north. In the early decades of this century
it was still 1solated at high tides and it clearly formed a naturally defensive location. The
borough was most likely situated on the high ground north and west of the castle. The
Caithréim Thoirdhealbhaigh states that it was protected by:

““Broad-based high-crested ramparts, running from the stream [Owenogarney River] to the sea, li.e. the
Shannon]™ .17

Westropp charted the possible outline of these defences which he thought were of Viking
origin. He stated that the ditch was cut into the base of the hill and it left “‘a band like
an outer ditch all round. . .36 feet to 48 feet wide’’." Much of the ditch along the north
and west was distinguished only by a band of iris and rushes. No part of this bank survives
today but the course of the ditch is still visible as a richer strip of grass. In the absence
of archaeological excavation, however, it is impossible to be precise about the date of this

feature.

Castle

The location of the original castle built by Robert de Muscegros has never been properly
established. Excavations have disproved the suggestion made by MacNamara and
Westropp® that a raised platform north of the castle represented a motte. Hunt
discovered that it was a mound of sixteenth century date and he suggested that the motte
had originally stood on higher ground west of the present castle.? This theory is also
unlikely, however, and it is questionable that there was ever a motte at Bunratty. The practice
of building mottes had effectively ceased by the 1240s and if it was an earthen castle then
it is more likely that it was a moated site or perhaps, a ringwork.? It seems more than
likely that the present castle stands on the site of the original one.

Bunratty may have been destroyed in the course of upheavals in the early 1270s when
Brian Rua O Briain, King of Thomond, attacked the Anglo-Norman settlements.? In
1275 Robert de Muscegros was forced to surrender the castle of Bunratty to the king “‘to
be held against Irish rebels’” until the restoration of peace,” and in 1276 de Muscegros
reached an arrangement with the king under which Bunratty and Tradery were granted
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to Thomas de Clare.* The entry of Thomas de Clare onto the scene brought about
considerable changes. He seems to have built a substantial stone castle™ described in the
Caithréim as “‘of dressed stone, girt with a thick outer wall, containing a roofed impregnable
donjon and having capacious limewhited appurtenances”.” This account agrees well with
a description in the inquisition taken on the death of Thomas de Clare in 1321:

“‘there is a fortress in which is a large tower, the walls whereof are sufficiently good, but not built up
[to the top] nor roofed: near the tower is a good stone chamber with a cellar filled up with stones, and

there is another chamber adjoining the same, a sort of ‘open space’ (platea) entirely covered over with
planks; a stone kitchen, in which are a cistern and an oven, is joined to the chamber and the tower”.?7

From this it would seem that the castle had a large keep with outbuildings enclosed by

a curtain wall.

The 1288 extent of the manor of Bunratty also refers to a watermill, worth 2s. a year.?
This presumably was the same mill for which a fosse was dug and the pool enlarged in
1289.%° The 1321 inquisition reported that at that date *‘the castle mill is inefficient and
of no use save to the inhabitants of the castle”.* This indicates that the mill stood within
the castle enclosure, or more likely on the Owenogarney river, adjacent to the castle.

Parish Church

The earliest evidence for the existence of the parish church occurs in 1256 when the priest
Peter was appointed perpetual vicar.”’ The 1288 extent of the manor noted that ‘“‘the
advowson of the church of Bunratty, with 10 adjacent chapels belonging thereto, i1s of
the gift of the lord of Bunratty, and is worth £10 to the parson and vicar’’.* In the
ecclesiastical taxation of 1302-6, however, the church was valued at only six marks.” The
patronage of the church was apparently in O Briain hands by 1444,* and by 1463 the
revenue of the parish was sufficient for it to be divided and a new parish formed at
Kilnasoolagh.* The church was rebuilt in the early seventeenth century by Donnchadh O
Briain, 4th earl of Thomond, who bequeathed in his will of 1617 ““as much glasse as will
glaze the wyndowes of the church of Bunratty newly edified by me’’.’® The surviving
remains date to this time.

Decline of the Borough

Throughout the late thirteenth and early fourteenth centuries Bunratty continued to be
exposed to O Briain attacks. The castle seems to have held out against these but the borough,
in spite of its defences, suffered. The Caithréim Thoirdhealbhaigh contains an account
of a siege of Bunratty by Toirdhealbhach O Briain dated to 1305, but which actually seems
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to have occurred ¢.1285.” It notes that O Briain burned the “‘outer premises’’ and the
“‘goodly town’’ before laying siege to the castle itself . Toirdhealbhach besieged the castle
again in 1298 but the siege was raised by the justiciar, John de Wogan,” and there seems
to have been another siege in 1299.% In 1314 Bunratty was burned in de Clare’s absence
by Muirchertach O Briain,* and the most serious blow of all came in 1318 with the defeat
and death of Richard de Clare at the battle of Dysert O’Dea. After the battle, Muirchertach
O Briain came to Bunratty and, according to the Caithréim’s colourful account, found
that de Clare’s widow had fled, leaving the town ‘‘deserted, empty, wrapped in fire’’ .
That this did not happen immediately, however, is clear from the escheator’s accounts
for 1318 which includes wages paid to ‘‘5 men-at-arms with 5 caprisoned horses, 12 hobelars
and 78 footmen. . .remaining in the garrison of Bonrat Castle, to protect it and the parts
adjacent after the death of Richard de Clare’’.* Since the period covered by this account
begins with the precise date of the battle, it would appear that this sizable garrison was
de Clare’s own.

After 1318 the castle continued to be garrisoned and some reconstruction of the deserted
borough was attempted. In 1321 an inquisition taken on the death of Richard de Clare’s

son and heir, Thomas, stated that:

“‘the remaining houses below the precinct of the castle are delapidated and in ruins and cannot be reckoned
as dwellings. . . the lands of the lordship are waste and out of cultivation for the past three years; neither
are there any free tenants or others dwelling in Thomond. . . with the exception of a few dwellers in the
town, who are beginning to rebuild in the same town which was burned and destroyed in the day when

Lord Richard de Clare was slain’'.%

The same inquisition describes the keep as ‘‘not built up, nor roofed’” and it suggests that
the castle, like the town, was burned in the wake of the battle of Dysert O’Dea.* The
attempts at reconstruction, however, must have been finally brought to an end in 1332
with the capture and destruction of the castle ““which by the judgement of many was
impregnable’” by Muirchertach O Briain and MacConmara.* The castle was briefly
regained from Irish hands and it was rebuilt and repaired by the justiciar, Sir Thomas de
Rokeby, in 1353.¥ Its frontier position, however, is highlighted by the fact that in 1355-6,
Thomas FitzJohn FitzMaurice was imprisoned in Limerick castle where he was charged
with losing Bunratty castle to the Irish.*

The history of the castle in the later Middle Ages is obscure. MacNamara suggests that
the present castle was built by Maccon, son of Sioda MacConmara, chief of Clann Cuiléin,
who died c.1444, and by his son Sean Finn, chief from 1444-67.* It is not clear how, or
when, the castle passed from MacConmara to O Briain hands. MacNamara thought that

Y[bid., pp. 233-4, 257.

380’ Grady, op. cit., ii, 31.

9Cal. Docs. Ireland 1293-1301, no. 474, p. 223; ibid., no. 521, p. 269.

40MacNamara, op. cif., p. 258.

1 4nn. Inisfallen; O'Grady, op. cit., ii, p. 73.

21pid., ii, p. 129.

$342nd Rep. Deputy Keeper Public Records Ireland, p. 21.

44MacNamara, op. cit., p. 249,

43 1bid.

4R. Butler (ed.), The Annals of Ireland by Friar John Clyn, Dublin 1849, p. 24; ¢f, J. T. Gilbert (ed.),
Chartularies of St Mary’s, Dublin, 2 vols., London 1884, ii, p. 377.

47Gwynn and Gleeson, Killaloe, pp. 335, 365; MacNamara, op. cit., p. 252.

4E. Tresham, Rotulorum Patentium et Clausorum Cancellariae Hiberniae calendrium Hen. II-Hen. VII,
Dublin 1828, p. 64: no. 148.

49MacNamara, op. cil., pp. 263-264.




this may have occurred ¢.1500° but the fact that the patronage of Bunratty church was
in O Briain hands by 1444 casts doubts on MacNamara’s reconstruction of the castle’s

hist:::rrlh51

Conclusion

Bunratty was the largest and most important Anglo-Norman settlement in Clare. There
is archaeological or documentary evidence for the presence of a parish church, market-
place, seigneurial castle, harbour, watermill and borough defences, while the reference to
226 burgesses may indicate that the settlement had a population of close to 1,000 people.™
The hey-day of the borough seems to have occurred between 1276 and 1318 after which
it appears to have been gradually abandoned. It is clear from Westropp’s work that more
upstanding archaeological features were to be found at Bunratty earlier in the century than
survive today and this loss is to be regretted. Roads have cut great swathes through the
borough site and, together with the construction of a hotel, have destroyed virtually all
evidence of the borough defences on the north side. Given Bunratty’s well established tourist
potential it is to be hoped that archaeological investigation will preceed any future
developments within the area of the medieval borough.
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